Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: December 3, 2019 ACCEPTED: January 26, 2020 PUBLISHED: February 10, 2020

NNLO QCD corrections to three-photon production at the LHC

Herschel A. Chawdhry,^a Michał Czakon,^b Alexander Mitov^a and Rene Poncelet^a

^a Cavendish Laboratory, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB3 0HE, U.K.

^bInstitut für Theoretische Teilchenphysik und Kosmologie, RWTH Aachen University, D-52056 Aachen, Germany

E-mail: herschel@hep.phy.cam.ac.uk, mczakon@physik.rwth-aachen.de, adm74@cam.ac.uk, poncelet@hep.phy.cam.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We compute the NNLO QCD corrections to three-photon production at the LHC. This is the first NNLO QCD calculation for a $2 \rightarrow 3$ process. Our calculation is exact, except for the scale-independent part of the two-loop finite remainder which is included in the leading color approximation. We estimate the size of the missing two-loop corrections and find them to be phenomenologically negligible. We compare our predictions with available 8 TeV measurement from the ATLAS collaboration. We find that the inclusion of the NNLO corrections eliminates the existing significant discrepancy with respect to NLO QCD predictions, paving the way for precision phenomenology in this process.

Keywords: QCD Phenomenology

ARXIV EPRINT: 1911.00479



Contents

1	Introduction		
2	The calculation		2
	2.1 Tree-level and one-loop amplitudes		3
	2.2	The two-loop amplitude for $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma \gamma \gamma$	3
		2.2.1 Structure of the two-loop amplitude	3
		2.2.2 Calculation of the two-loop amplitude	4
3	Phe	6	
	3.1	LHC setup	6
	3.2	Fiducial cross-section	7
	3.3	Differential distributions	9
	3.4	Discussion of perturbative convergence	12
4 Conclusions			13

1 Introduction

Over the last decade, Next-to-Next-to Leading Order (NNLO) QCD calculations for hadron collider processes have sustained tremendous progress. Owing to the development of many independent approaches [1–31] almost all non-loop-induced $2 \rightarrow 1$ and $2 \rightarrow 2$ processes have now been computed, typically in more than one computational approach. Such massive theoretical progress has led to the creation of public codes and has started to produce valuable and solid LHC phenomenology on a massive scale.

The computation of $2 \rightarrow 3$ hadron collider processes represents a natural step beyond the current state of the art in NNLO calculations. Since many of the available computational approaches are generic, in principle they should be able to handle the problem of double real radiation in $2 \rightarrow 3$ processes. The calculation of the so-called real-virtual correction to such processes should also be possible, in principle, due to the existence of numerically stable libraries for one-loop amplitudes. The only ingredient for such calculations which is not readily available are the two-loop five-point amplitudes. Thanks to the development of various new methods [32–45], first results for selected helicities, color structures or kinematics (typically Euclidean) have started to appear. This includes 5-point amplitudes computed in QCD [46–56], in pure Yang-Mills [57–59], in supersymmetric theories [60–63] and in gravity [64–66]. In this work we calculate the two-loop amplitude $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma$ which is the first time a 5-point two-loop QCD amplitude is derived explicitly, in analytic form, in the physical region. We discuss this result at length in section 2.2 below. The goal of the present work is to demonstrate the feasibility of existing calculational technologies to deal with $2 \rightarrow 3$ hadron collider processes. We have decided to apply this first-ever NNLO $2 \rightarrow 3$ calculation to the process $pp \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma + X$. Our motivation for choosing this process is twofold. First, the production of colorless final states has always occupied a special place among hadron collider processes and has been the pioneering work for both $2 \rightarrow 1$ and $2 \rightarrow 2$ processes. In addition, the calculation of the two-loop amplitudes is more feasible due to the smallest number of scales involved.

Second, the process $pp \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma + X$ is of direct phenomenological interest. The crosssection for three isolated photons at the LHC 8 TeV was measured in detail by the ATLAS collaboration [67] (see also the earlier measurement [68]) and was found to be *significantly* above the NLO QCD prediction in a wide kinematic region. Since at NLO the theory error is completely dominated by missing higher-order terms this process represents a prime case for an NNLO QCD calculation. Indeed, we find that with the help of our calculation this discrepancy can be addressed (see section 3).

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we explain our calculation with emphasis on the derivation of the two-loop amplitude. In section 3 we present our predictions for the fiducial and differential cross-section. In section 3.4 we discuss the important question of perturbative convergence in this process. Our conclusions are summarized in section 4.

2 The calculation

In this work we follow the STRIPPER approach [11–13] previously applied at NNLO in QCD to top-pair [69–73] and inclusive jet [74] production at the LHC. The framework is implemented in a fully-differential partonic Monte Carlo program which can calculate any infrared-safe partonic observable. The technical details about our implementation can be found in ref. [74].

The complete calculation converges very well in terms of phase-space integration. Not counting the CPU time needed to evaluate the two-loop finite remainder (see section 2.2.2 for details), it took only about 2k CPU hours to complete. The slowest contribution (about 1k CPU hours) is the real-virtual finite contribution due to the slow evaluation of the 6-point one-loop amplitude with OpenLoops 1. That contribution, however, converges fast in terms of required phase-space points.

The ingredients needed for the present calculation are tree-level amplitudes as well as the finite remainders of one-loop and two-loop amplitudes. Their calculation is described in detail in section 2.1 and section 2.2. Here we only point out that all required one-loop amplitudes are included exactly, with full color dependence. The finite remainder of the two-loop amplitude $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma$ is included in the leading color approximation, additionally excluding diagrams with closed fermion loops. The justification for this approximation is given in section 2.2 below.

The infrared subtraction operator (sometimes called "Z"-operator) is given in ref. [13]; its leading color approximation can be found in ref. [51]. We work in a theory with 5 massless active quark flavors and renormalize the amplitudes accordingly. No loops with massive fermions are included in our calculation. Their effect in the context of diphoton production has been discussed in ref. [75].

2.1 Tree-level and one-loop amplitudes

All tree-level diagrams are computed with the help of the library avhlib [76, 77]. For the derivation of the two-loop finite remainder the one-loop amplitude $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma$ is needed to order ε^2 (where $d = 4-2\varepsilon$ is the space-time dimension). We have computed it following the standard Feynman diagram plus Integration-by-Parts (IBP) identities [78, 79] approach. All required master integrals expanded to that order in ε are available in electronic form in ref. [53]. The finite remainders for all one-loop amplitudes are obtained from the library **OpenLoops** [80, 81], while the one-loop squared $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma$ contribution is taken from the library **Recola** [82].

Unlike the case of diphoton production, the gluon-initiated one-loop amplitude $gg \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma$ vanishes and thus does not contribute to the process studied in this paper. Since the gg-flux is sizable, the vanishing of this contribution is of phenomenological significance and we discuss it in more detail in section 3.

2.2 The two-loop amplitude for $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma \gamma \gamma$

An important novelty in this work is the calculation of the two-loop amplitude for the process $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma$. Although our calculation is restricted to the leading color approximation, this is the first time a two-loop five-point amplitude is put in a form that can be used in a phenomenological application. For this reason we describe it in detail in this section.

2.2.1 Structure of the two-loop amplitude

We need the two-loop amplitude $|M^{(2)}(q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma)\rangle$, multiplied by the Born one $|M^{(0)}(q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma)\rangle$, and summed/averaged over helicities and color. Its color decomposition reads:

$$\overline{\sum} 2\operatorname{Re}\langle M^{(2)}|M^{(0)}\rangle = M^{(\mathrm{lc},1)} \left(N_c^3 - 2N_c + 1/N_c\right) + M^{(\mathrm{lc},2)} \left(N_c^3 - N_c\right) + M^{(\mathrm{f})} \left(N_c^2 - 1\right) + M^{(\mathrm{np})} \left(N_c - 1/N_c\right), \qquad (2.1)$$

where $N_c = 3$ is the number of colors.

In this work we simplify the calculation by utilizing the following approximation:

$$\overline{\sum} 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle M^{(2)} | M^{(0)} \rangle \approx N_c^3 \left(M^{(\mathrm{lc},\,1)} + M^{(\mathrm{lc},\,2)} \right) \,, \tag{2.2}$$

i.e. we neglect the non-planar contribution $M^{(np)}$ as well as all contributions $M^{(f)}$ with a fermion loop (both planar and non-planar).

The non-planar contribution $M^{(np)}$ is suppressed by a factor of $1/N_c^2$ relative to the leading color one. It is thus expected to be numerically subdominant. The non-planar contribution cannot be computed at present since the required IBP solutions (topologies B₁ and B₂ in the notation of ref. [38]) are not yet fully known.

The contribution $M^{(f)}$ contains all diagrams with one closed fermion loop. Both planar and non-planar diagrams contribute to it. It cannot be currently derived since the required non-planar IBPs (topology B₂ from ref. [38]) are not yet known. The term $M^{(f)}$ is suppressed with respect to the leading color one by a single power $1/N_c$. At the same time some diagrams¹ are enhanced by the number of massless fermion flavors $n_f = 5$. Therefore, although in the strict $N_c \to \infty$ limit $M^{(f)}$ is suppressed relative to the leading color contribution, its numerical value may not necessarily be sub-dominant with respect to eq. (2.2). For this reason, to be conservative, one should assume that it is comparable numerically to the leading color contribution. As we show in section 3 below (see in particular figure 6), the numerical impact of the leading color approximation eq. (2.2) to the differential crosssection is itself negligible, at the percent level, which *aposteriori* justifies the approximation $M^{(f)} \approx 0$. In the future, once the corresponding contribution $M^{(f)}$ becomes known (same for the term $M^{(np)}$), we can easily update our cross-section predictions.

2.2.2 Calculation of the two-loop amplitude

To compute the two-loop amplitude we use a standard Feynman diagram-based approach. The diagrams are generated with the help of a private software. After multiplying with the Born amplitude and then computing the traces of spin tensors and color factors, the resulting scalar integrals are mapped to master integrals using the IBP results of ref. [38].

The last step is the inserting of the results for the required master integrals. To that end we utilize the results of ref. [39] where a set of integrals has been explicitly computed in terms of the so-called pentagon functions f_{ij} . This set of integrals can be algebraically related to the set of master integrals in ref. [38] with the help of the IBP solution derived in that latter reference.

At this point the bare amplitude can be computed numerically using the routines for the numerical evaluation of the set of integrals provided with ref. [39]. We do not follow this approach here for two reasons. First, we would like to provide an explicit analytic result in terms of basic functions, like the set of pentagon functions. Second, the complete results involves not just the 61 master integrals but also many integrals that are obtained from them by crossings of external legs. In practice we have more than 70 set of crossings that need to be applied to the set of master integrals. While not every master integral will need to be crossed for all crossings, the complete set of integrals, accounting for all crossings, far exceeds the dimension of functions needed to describe the amplitude. For this reason such an approach would not be minimal and could lead to more severe loss of precision during the numerical evaluation.

For the above reasons, we use the explicit representation of master integrals in terms of pentagon functions f_{ij} [39] and have applied the momentum crossings directly to those functions. To minimize the set of functions, we have derived various functional identities between those functions with different arguments. As a result, we have derived an explicit expression for the squared amplitude eq. (2.2) as a polynomial in transcendental constants and f_{ij} functions with various arguments. The coefficients of this polynomial are rational functions of the kinematic invariants. They have been factorized and simplified, in some cases using the finite-field reconstruction package FiniteFlow [83].

Besides the usual $\zeta(2)$ and $\zeta(3)$ a new set of constants, collectively called *bc*4, appear at weight 4 [39]. Their treatments requires special attention. These constants are associated

¹These are the diagrams that involve no photon coupling to the closed fermion loop.

with the master integrals at weight 4 and, despite being called "constants", in general take different numerical values in the various physical regions. We have accounted for this possibility in the process of applying momentum crossings to the master integrals. Many of these constants take the same value in the various physical regions. We have utilized the numerical values which are included in the numerical code accompanying ref. [39]. Similarly, the analytic continuation of the pentagon functions f_{ij} across the various physical regions is performed automatically by the numerical library of ref. [39]. To check the correctness of our manipulations, we have compared in each physical region the numerical predictions for each master integral, constructed by us as described above, with the numerical value for the master returned directly by the library of ref. [39] and have found complete agreement. We have also checked many integrals against the numerical program pySecDec [84], finding agreement in all cases.

In summary, we have expressed the complete analytic result for the bare amplitude in a basis of about 1800 transcendental terms involving $\zeta(2), \zeta(3)$ and f_{ij} functions plus about 100 terms involving bc4 "constants" of weight 4.

Most of the rational coefficients are small (i.e. kB size) but some exceed 1MB. The loss of numerical precision due to cancellation between the various terms is thus of particular concern. To minimize such cancellation we have evaluated all rational coefficients with exact rational arithmetic. Specifically, we rationalize each phase-space point by preserving the accuracy of the original floating point number, and then use its rational form to compute the rational coefficients as exact rational numbers. This is implemented with the help of the CLN library [85]. The evaluation is much slower than the evaluation in double precision, however the overall timing is negligible compared to the evaluation of the slowest pentagon functions of weight 4. We have performed various tests for the depth of numerical cancellations and have found them to be under control in all test cases.

The numerical evaluation of the functions f_{ij} is performed with the help of the C++ library provided with ref. [39]. The time it takes to evaluate these functions depends strongly on their weight. All functions through weight 3 are standard polylogarithms and can easily be computed with full double precision in negligible time. The functions of weight 4 are the slowest and can take up to several minutes per phase-space point. Their precision is less than full double precision due to conflicting requirements of precision and speed as well as the numerical stability of the integration routines used for their calculation. With the help of extensive experimentation we have found that computing them with at least 7 significant digits is sufficient for our purposes. To test the depth of numerical cancellations we have also computed the weight 4 functions requiring 5 significant digits. This results in a finite remainder with, typically, 2 significant digits.

It takes about 10–50 min, depending on the phase space point, to compute the finite remainder in a single phase-space point on a single CPU (i.e. without any parallelization). The average time is about 17 min when a relative precision of 10^{-7} for the weight 4 functions is requested. In general, several hundred thousand points are required in order to integrate the three-photon phase space over the required bins. Such a calculation requires significant, cluster-size computer resources. While a one-off evaluation is possible it poses non-trivial problems, especially if re-evaluation of the amplitude is needed (for example for a different

setup or collider energy). To minimize this computational effort we have utilized a two-fold strategy.

First, we have produced an optimized set of phase-space points which have been generated according to the Born cross-section. Such an approach has already been used in refs. [86–90] and it allows us to obtain a good quality double-virtual contribution with a reduced number of events. In practice, we have computed 30k events.

Second, we have utilized an approach to the implementation of two-loop finite remainder where the above mentioned 30k phase space points have been used to construct a (four-dimensional) interpolating function for the real part of the finite remainder. Constructing multi-dimensional interpolating functions is a hard problem. In our case we have used the purposely developed library GPTree [91] which uses advances in machine learning to optimize the interpolation tables and to produce an estimate of the interpolation error. The output of the GPTree library is a C++ library which is portable and very easy to link to a C++ code and to use. It has the advantage that if more phase-space points are computed in the future the interpolation tables can be refitted and thus be further improved. This library will be made public in a future publication. We have also found it very useful as an additional monitor for the appearance of numerical instabilities.

In view of the phenomenological application of the two-loop amplitude eq. (2.1), see section 3, we make explicit the scale dependence of its finite reminder $\mathcal{H}^{(2)}$:

$$\mathcal{H}^{(2)}(\mu_R^2) = \mathcal{H}^{(2)}(s_{12}) + \sum_{n=1}^4 c_n \ln^n \left(\frac{\mu_R^2}{s_{12}}\right) \,, \tag{2.3}$$

where s_{12} is the partonic c.m. energy squared. Since the coefficients c_n can be determined exactly from the tree-level and one-loop amplitudes, throughout this work the scale dependence of the two-loop finite reminder is included with full color dependence. Therefore, the approximation eq. (2.2) is applied only to the first term in the r.h.s. of eq. (2.3). As can be seen in figure 6 below, the numerical impact on the NNLO cross-section of the scale-independent part of the two-loop finite remainder $\mathcal{H}^{(2)}(s_{12})$ is rather small, at the percent level. The explicit expressions for the amplitude, as well as further details about its evaluation, will be given in a subsequent publication.

3 Phenomenology

3.1 LHC setup

Our calculational setup follows the 8 TeV ATLAS measurement [67]. The definition of histograms and experimental data is taken from the corresponding HEPData entry [92]. Our event selection is based on the following phase-space cuts:

- E_T cut for the three photons: $E_{T,\gamma_1} > 27 \text{ GeV}$, $E_{T,\gamma_2} > 22 \text{ GeV}$ and $E_{T,\gamma_3} > 15 \text{ GeV}$, where γ_1 represents the hardest photon while γ_3 the softest one.
- All photons are required to have $|\eta_{\gamma}| < 2.37$, excluding the range $1.37 < |\eta_{\gamma}| < 1.56$.

- Photon separation: the angular distance ΔR between any two photons is required to be $\Delta R_{ij} > 0.45$, where $\Delta R_{ij} = \sqrt{(\eta_i \eta_j)^2 + (\phi_i \phi_j)^2}$.
- A minimum three-photon invariant mass is required: $m_{\gamma\gamma\gamma} > 50 \text{ GeV}$.
- Following Frixione [93], we impose smooth photon isolation. Specifically, for any angular distance ΔR away from each photon, subject to $\Delta R \leq \Delta R_0$, we require

$$E_T^{\rm iso}(\Delta R) < E_T^{\rm max} \frac{1 - \cos(\Delta R)}{1 - \cos(\Delta R_0)}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where $\Delta R_0 = 0.4$ and $E_T^{\text{max}} = 10$ GeV. The energy $E_T^{\text{iso}}(\Delta R)$ is defined as

$$E_T^{\text{iso}}(\Delta R) = \sum_i E_{T,i} \Theta(\Delta R - \Delta R_{i,\gamma}) \,. \tag{3.2}$$

The sum in the above equation is over all final-state partons i, and $E_{T,i}$ and $\Delta R_{i,\gamma}$ are parton i's transverse energy and angular distance with respect to the photon.

Our calculation uses the NNPDF31_nnlo_as_0118 pdf set [94]. We have not computed the pdf error; it was estimated in ref. [67] and found to be below the (NLO) scale variation.

In this work we have utilized two different forms for the dynamic factorization and renormalization scales:

$$H_T \equiv \sum_{i=1}^3 E_{T,\gamma_i} \,, \tag{3.3}$$

$$M_T \equiv \sqrt{p_{\gamma\gamma\gamma,T}^2 + m_{\gamma\gamma\gamma}^2} \quad \text{with} \quad p_{\gamma\gamma\gamma} = \sum_{i=1}^3 p_{\gamma_i} \quad \text{and} \quad m_{\gamma\gamma\gamma}^2 = p_{\gamma\gamma\gamma}^2 . \tag{3.4}$$

Our default central scale choice is $\mu_0 = H_T/4$, which follows from the findings of ref. [72]. In fact, in the following we have studied the choices $\mu_0 = H_T/n$, with n = 1, 2, 4as well as the alternative choices $\mu_0 = M_T/n$, with n = 1, 2, 4, that are based on the transverse mass of the three-photon system. The M_T -based scale was used in the latest diphoton production study [95]. We find that the differences between calculations with central scales M_T/n and H_T/n , with n = 1, 2, 4, are relatively small. Scale variation of the factorization and renormalization scales is derived with a standard seven-point variation around the central scale μ_0 .

3.2 Fiducial cross-section

In figure 1 we compare ATLAS data [67] with the predictions for the fiducial cross-section as defined in section 3.1. We compare predictions based on 6 different renormalisation and factorization scales, in LO, NLO and NNLO QCD. In all cases we observe large shifts from LO to NLO and from NLO to NNLO which are much larger than the scale variations at, respectively, LO and NLO. Specifically, for our default scale $\mu_0 = H_T/4$ we have an NLO/LO correction of about 2.8 while the NNLO/NLO correction is about 1.6. We discuss this important feature in section 3.4 below.



Figure 1. Predictions for the fiducial cross-section in LO (green), NLO (blue) and NNLO (red) QCD versus ATLAS data (black). Shown are predictions for six scale choices. The error bars on the theory predictions reflect scale variation only. For two of the scales only the central predictions are shown.

Predictions based on the two different scale functional forms eqs. (3.3), (3.4) are rather similar relative to the sizes of scale variations and experimental uncertainties. Therefore, in the following, we will mainly focus our discussion on the H_T -based scales.

The scales $\mu_0 = H_T/4$ and $\mu_0 = H_T/2$ both agree with data, especially the $H_T/4$ one. The scale $\mu_0 = H_T$ is only just outside the measurement's uncertainty band. For simplicity in this work we did not compute the full scale variation around the scale H_T (same for M_T) which is why only the central value is shown for these two scales. We do not expect the scale variation around the two scales will be much different that the pattern already emerging from figure 1.

In general we observe that the scale variation increases when going from LO to NNLO and that all scales are consistent at a given order within their scale uncertainties. For a proper interpretation of the reliability of the theoretical predictions it is therefore imperative to understand the issue of perturbative convergence. We devote section 3.4 to this issue but here we only say in advance that we believe the NNLO predictions are probably the first order for which the theory prediction, with its associated scale variation, is reliable.

To summarize, based on the above discussion we conclude that our default scale choice is in perfect agreement with the experimental measurement

$$\sigma_{\rm fid}(\text{ATLAS}) = 72.6 \pm 6.5(\text{stat.}) \pm 9.2(\text{syst.}) \,\text{fb}\,,$$

$$\sigma_{\rm fid}(\text{NNLO QCD}; \ H_T/4) = 67.5^{+7.4 \ (11\%)}_{-5.7 \ (8\%)} \,(\text{scales}) \,\text{fb}\,. \tag{3.5}$$

Clearly, the inclusion of the NNLO QCD correction plays a crucial role in this agreement.

(

The MC error on the fiducial NNLO prediction is below 1%. The fiducial predictions based on the various scale choices are available in electronic form as supplementary material attached to this paper.



Figure 2. p_T distribution of the hardest photon γ_1 (left), γ_2 (center) and the softest one γ_3 (right). Top plot shows the absolute distribution at NNLO (red), NLO (blue) and LO (green) versus ATLAS data (black). Middle plot shows same distributions but normalized to the NLO. Bottom plot shows central NNLO predictions for 6 different scale choices (only the central scale is shown) with respect to the default choice $\mu_0 = H_T/4$. The bands represent the 7-point scale variations about the corresponding central scales.

3.3 Differential distributions

A very large number of differential distributions have been measured by the ATLAS collaboration in ref. [67]. In this work we have computed the theory predictions in NNLO QCD for all of them.

We start by showing in figure 2 the predictions for the p_T distributions of the three individual photons: the hardest one γ_1 (left), γ_2 (center) and the softest one γ_3 (right). We show the absolutely normalized distributions at LO (green), NLO (blue) and NNLO (red) in QCD. The top and middle panels show the central scale predictions and their corresponding 7-point scale variations for our default scale choice $\mu_0 = H_T/4$: the top panel shows the absolutely normalized distributions while the middle one shows the same results but normalized to the NLO central predictions. Shown in black is the ATLAS data. The bottom panels show the central scale predictions for the other 5 scale choices normalized to the central scale value for the default scale $H_T/4$. For a more quantitative comparison we also show the scale variation band of the default scale as well as the ATLAS data.

The plots for all other differential distributions shown next follow the same pattern: in figure 3 we show the three $\Delta \Phi$ angles between the three pairs of photons, in figure 4 we show the three rapidity differences $|\Delta \eta|$ between the three pairs of photons and, finally, in figure 5 we show the invariant mass distributions between the three pairs of photons as well as the invariant mass of the three-photon system.

Overall, a very consistent picture arises from all differential distributions, both in relation to the properties of the theory predictions as well as in relation to their agreement with data.

The most notable feature evident in all differential distributions are the large jumps from LO to NLO and from NLO to NNLO. The difference between orders is much larger than the corresponding scale variations at LO and NLO which, in principle, raises the question of the validity of perturbative convergence in this process. This behavior closely



Figure 3. As in figure 2 but for the $\Delta \Phi(\gamma_i, \gamma_j)$ distributions.



Figure 4. As in figure 2 but for the $|\Delta \eta(\gamma_i, \gamma_j)|$ distributions.

resembles the one already discussed for the fiducial cross-section. At this point we will only mention that we believe the NNLO QCD predictions is likely already a reliable prediction which can be confidently compared to data. We leave the detailed discussion of this point to section 3.4.

The second notable feature is the overall good agreement between NNLO QCD predictions based on a scale $H_T/4$ with data. While in most distributions there are bins that do not agree with the NNLO prediction, the overall shape as well as normalization of all distributions is clearly correctly described at NNLO. In fact in some of the bins where deviations is observed could be due to larger statistical fluctuations in data. An improved future measurement will clearly be very useful to clarify this. Interestingly, it is the distributions $\Delta \Phi$ and $\Delta \eta$ that are described best and in fact in those two we observe perfect agreement between NNLO and data for all pairs of photons.

The relative MC error on the differential NNLO predictions shown here is below 3 percent. The theoretical predictions for all distributions, based on our default scale $H_T/4$, are available in electronic form as supplementary material attached to this paper.

In summary, we would like to stress that in this calculation we have only accounted for the QCD corrections through NNLO. Other theoretical contributions should at this point also be revisited. These include electroweak corrections and (refining the study of)



Figure 5. As in figure 2 but for the $m(\gamma_i, \gamma_j)$ and $m(\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3)$ distributions.

effects due to photon isolation. Effects due to pdfs appear to be subdominant to the scale variation at NNLO but this should also be cross-checked in a more complete study. The issue of the "best" scale choice can always be debated and at this level of precision seems to be a dominant source of theoretical uncertainty. For a detailed phenomenological study the MC error of the predictions shown here can be improved further. Finally, for completeness, one would like to have the complete NNLO prediction by including the contributions to the two-loop finite remainder neglected in this work, although we expect them to be phenomenologically insignificant.

3.4 Discussion of perturbative convergence

As in diphoton production [75, 95, 96], the inclusive production of three photons exhibits behavior that at first glance is inconsistent with perturbative convergence. Indeed, as emphasized above, we observe large jumps from LO to NLO and from NLO to NNLO. These jumps are much larger than the corresponding scale variation bands at LO and NLO. This behavior is evident in all differential distributions as well as in the fiducial cross-section. Specifically, we recall that for our default scale choice the fiducial cross sections at NLO exceed the LO one by a factor of 2.8 while the NNLO/NLO K-factor is about 1.6. This behavior is very similar to the one encountered in diphoton production.

Various arguments have been given in the past for the appearance of such large K-factors in diphoton production. Two of those arguments are the presence of asymmetric cuts imposed on the two photons as well as the sizable loop-induced $gg \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$ contribution. While these arguments have their merit, it is easy to see that they are not the drivers behind the behavior we are trying to understand in diphoton (as well as three-photon) production. For example, the asymmetric cuts should not play an appreciable role for three-photon production because the Born state is naturally asymmetric. Similarly, while the loop-induced reaction is very large relative to the LO diphoton cross-section, its relative contribution at NNLO is not that sizable, only of the order of 10% [95]. While such a contribution is important it is not large enough to be the driver behind the large K-factors observed in both processes. In fact, this issue can be cleanly understood in three-photon production process where the corresponding loop-induced amplitude $gg \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma$ vanishes.

The above analysis of the gg-driven correction brings a very important point, namely, the role the initial-state flux plays in the apparent perturbative convergence of these two processes. To quantify this in figure 6 we show the composition of the fiducial cross-section at LO, NLO and NNLO organized by initial-state partonic reactions. We show the results for three different H_T -based central scales; the results for the corresponding M_T -based scales are very similar.

What we observe in figure 6 is very illuminating. First, we note that the qq flux does contribute (due to double real emissions and collinear subtractions) although its effects is marginal, in the few percent range, depending on the choice of scale. Clearly, despite the fact the qq flux is very large it nevertheless has negligible effect on the cross-section simply because the corresponding partonic cross-sections are very small. The large gluon pdf does have a substantial impact on the three-photon cross-section but this happens through the qq reaction. As also emphasized in ref. [95] for the case of diphoton production, the qqreaction starts to contribute only at NLO. This leads to a very unique interplay between purely partonic contributions, including their radiative corrections, and partonic fluxes. Specifically, the $q\bar{q}$ contribution receives a sizable but not huge NLO radiative correction. At NLO this contribution is now dwarfed by the newly generated qq correction which at this point is only LO. At NNLO the $q\bar{q}$ result gets another significant vet moderate correction, and the qq reaction also receives sizable but reasonable perturbative correction. At NNLO two new channels open — the qq and qq' ones, the latter being much more significant than the former. As also concluded in ref. [95] for the case of diphoton production, NNLO is the first order where all large partonic reactions have already been included together with



Figure 6. Anatomy of higher-order corrections to the three-photon fiducial cross-section at LO (green), NLO (blue) and NNLO (red) by partonic channels for three different central scale choices. Also shown is the contribution from the scale-independent part of the two-loop finite remainder (VV) computed in our approximation defined in section 2.2.1.

higher-order corrections to the largest ones; therefore one can reasonably expect that from this point on the yet-higher order N^3LO corrections to be derived at some point in the future are likely to start showing a more convergent behavior.

Before closing this section we would like to emphasize that the pattern of scale dependence observed when going from LO through NNLO should not be viewed as anomalous. The fact that scale dependence increases towards NNLO is simply due to the fact that the scale variation at the lower orders is artificially small and that, as explained in this section, at each new order through NNLO new large partonic reactions enter the process thus increasing the overall scale dependence. The arguments given here imply that starting at N^3LO the scale variation should start to decrease. This will be very interesting to check in the future. In summary, in our view, the above arguments imply that the scale dependence of the NNLO prediction is likely not artificially small.

4 Conclusions

In this work we calculate the NNLO QCD correction to three-photon production at the LHC. Our calculation is complete except for the scale-independent part of the two-loop finite remainder which is included in the leading color approximation. We estimate the effect of the missing two-loop contributions. We expect they are phenomenologically insignificant.

Our calculation is the first NNLO calculation for a $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering process. Although the production of colorless final states is not as complicated as a generic $2 \rightarrow 3$ reaction, we believe that our calculation clearly demonstrates that current computational technology is capable of dealing with the complicated structure of infrared singularities in multi-final state processes. In particular, based on our experience with dijet production (which was computed within the same STRIPPER framework as the present calculation) we think that the NNLO computation of three jets at the LHC is feasible.

An important part of our work is the calculation of the two-loop amplitude $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\gamma$ in the leading color approximation. We have expressed the amplitude in a fully analytic form, defined directly in the physical region. To the best of our knowledge this is the first time a 5-point two-loop amplitude has been expressed in a form readily available for phenomenological applications. To this end we had to go beyond simply producing an analytic result that implements the many momentum crossings inherent to processes with many particles in the final state together with the relevant analytic continuations; we have extensively investigated the question of numerical stability and have been able to evaluate the amplitude numerically in about 30k phase-space points with sufficient numerical precision. We would like to stress that this problem is highly non-trivial due to the large size of the amplitude and the large number of independent transcendental functions that appear in it.

The evaluation of the two-loop amplitude is expensive in terms of CPU time. We have investigated two possibilities to mitigate this problem: one involves specially generated phase-space points that accelerate the convergence of the phase-space integration, while the other involves the construction of a four-dimensional interpolating function which internally utilizes machine-learning techniques. We find that both approaches lead to compatible predictions within the corresponding Monte Carlo errors.

We observe that the structure of higher-order corrections in inclusive three-photon production is very interesting and resembles closely the one known from diphoton production. We find very large higher-order corrections; the NLO prediction for the fiducial cross-section is larger than the LO one by a factor of 2.8 while the NNLO exceeds the NLO one by a factor of 1.6. We have presented detailed analysis of the anatomy of the higher-order corrections in this process and have concluded that the NNLO prediction is likely to be reliable.

Finally, we have compared our predictions with the high-quality LHC data available from the ATLAS Collaboration. We find that the sometimes huge discrepancies between QCD predictions and data noted previously at NLO are absent at NNLO and that the NNLO prediction agrees well with data for all distributions. This result clearly demonstrates how indispensable higher-order corrections are to quantitative phenomenological LHC analyses.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Samuel Abreu, Ben Page and Lance Dixon for illuminating discussions. A.M. thanks the Department of Physics at Princeton University for hospitality during the completion of this work. The work of M.C. was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft under grant 396021762 — TRR 257. The research of H.C., A.M. and R.P. has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 683211). The work of A.M. was also supported by the UK STFC grants ST/L002760/1 and ST/K004883/1. **Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- R. Hamberg, W.L. van Neerven and T. Matsuura, A complete calculation of the order α²_s correction to the Drell-Yan K factor, Nucl. Phys. B 359 (1991) 343 [Erratum ibid. B 644 (2002) 403] [INSPIRE].
- [2] T. Binoth and G. Heinrich, An automatized algorithm to compute infrared divergent multiloop integrals, Nucl. Phys. B 585 (2000) 741 [hep-ph/0004013] [INSPIRE].
- [3] R.V. Harlander and W.B. Kilgore, Next-to-next-to-leading order Higgs production at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (2002) 201801 [hep-ph/0201206] [INSPIRE].
- [4] C. Anastasiou and K. Melnikov, Higgs boson production at hadron colliders in NNLO QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 646 (2002) 220 [hep-ph/0207004] [INSPIRE].
- [5] C. Anastasiou, K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, A new method for real radiation at NNLO, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 076010 [hep-ph/0311311] [INSPIRE].
- [6] C. Anastasiou, L.J. Dixon, K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, High precision QCD at hadron colliders: Electroweak gauge boson rapidity distributions at NNLO, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 094008 [hep-ph/0312266] [INSPIRE].
- [7] G. Somogyi, Z. Trócsányi and V. Del Duca, Matching of singly- and doubly-unresolved limits of tree-level QCD squared matrix elements, JHEP 06 (2005) 024 [hep-ph/0502226]
 [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann and E.W.N. Glover, Antenna subtraction at NNLO, JHEP 09 (2005) 056 [hep-ph/0505111] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A. Daleo, T. Gehrmann and D. Maître, Antenna subtraction with hadronic initial states, JHEP 04 (2007) 016 [hep-ph/0612257] [INSPIRE].
- S. Catani and M. Grazzini, An NNLO subtraction formalism in hadron collisions and its application to Higgs boson production at the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 222002
 [hep-ph/0703012] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M. Czakon, A novel subtraction scheme for double-real radiation at NNLO, Phys. Lett. B 693 (2010) 259 [arXiv:1005.0274] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Czakon, Double-real radiation in hadronic top quark pair production as a proof of a certain concept, Nucl. Phys. B 849 (2011) 250 [arXiv:1101.0642] [INSPIRE].
- [13] M. Czakon and D. Heymes, Four-dimensional formulation of the sector-improved residue subtraction scheme, Nucl. Phys. B 890 (2014) 152 [arXiv:1408.2500] [INSPIRE].
- [14] G. Abelof and A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, Antenna subtraction for the production of heavy particles at hadron colliders, JHEP 04 (2011) 063 [arXiv:1102.2443] [INSPIRE].
- [15] J. Currie, E.W.N. Glover and S. Wells, Infrared Structure at NNLO Using Antenna Subtraction, JHEP 04 (2013) 066 [arXiv:1301.4693] [INSPIRE].
- [16] R. Boughezal, F. Caola, K. Melnikov, F. Petriello and M. Schulze, Higgs boson production in association with a jet at next-to-next-to-leading order in perturbative QCD, JHEP 06 (2013) 072 [arXiv:1302.6216] [INSPIRE].

- [17] J. Currie, A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, E.W.N. Glover and J. Pires, NNLO QCD corrections to jet production at hadron colliders from gluon scattering, JHEP 01 (2014) 110
 [arXiv:1310.3993] [INSPIRE].
- [18] R. Boughezal, C. Focke, X. Liu and F. Petriello, W-boson production in association with a jet at next-to-next-to-leading order in perturbative QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 062002 [arXiv:1504.02131] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J. Gaunt, M. Stahlhofen, F.J. Tackmann and J.R. Walsh, N-jettiness Subtractions for NNLO QCD Calculations, JHEP 09 (2015) 058 [arXiv:1505.04794] [INSPIRE].
- M. Cacciari, F.A. Dreyer, A. Karlberg, G.P. Salam and G. Zanderighi, Fully Differential Vector-Boson-Fusion Higgs Production at Next-to-Next-to-Leading Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 082002 [Erratum ibid. 120 (2018) 139901] [arXiv:1506.02660] [INSPIRE].
- [21] R. Bonciani, S. Catani, M. Grazzini, H. Sargsyan and A. Torre, The q_T subtraction method for top quark production at hadron colliders, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 581 [arXiv:1508.03585] [INSPIRE].
- [22] R. Boughezal et al., Color singlet production at NNLO in MCFM, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017)
 7 [arXiv:1605.08011] [INSPIRE].
- [23] F. Caola, K. Melnikov and R. Röntsch, Nested soft-collinear subtractions in NNLO QCD computations, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 248 [arXiv:1702.01352] [INSPIRE].
- [24] J. Currie, A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann, E.W.N. Glover, A. Huss and J. Pires, Precise predictions for dijet production at the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 152001 [arXiv:1705.10271] [INSPIRE].
- [25] M. Grazzini, S. Kallweit and M. Wiesemann, Fully differential NNLO computations with MATRIX, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 537 [arXiv:1711.06631] [INSPIRE].
- [26] F. Herzog, Geometric IR subtraction for final state real radiation, JHEP 08 (2018) 006 [arXiv:1804.07949] [INSPIRE].
- [27] L. Magnea, E. Maina, G. Pelliccioli, C. Signorile-Signorile, P. Torrielli and S. Uccirati, Local analytic sector subtraction at NNLO, JHEP 12 (2018) 107 [Erratum ibid. 06 (2019) 013]
 [arXiv:1806.09570] [INSPIRE].
- [28] L. Magnea, E. Maina, G. Pelliccioli, C. Signorile-Signorile, P. Torrielli and S. Uccirati, Factorisation and Subtraction beyond NLO, JHEP 12 (2018) 062 [arXiv:1809.05444] [INSPIRE].
- [29] F. Caola, K. Melnikov and R. Röntsch, Analytic results for color-singlet production at NNLO QCD with the nested soft-collinear subtraction scheme, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 386 [arXiv:1902.02081] [INSPIRE].
- [30] S. Catani, S. Devoto, M. Grazzini, S. Kallweit and J. Mazzitelli, Top-quark pair production at the LHC: Fully differential QCD predictions at NNLO, JHEP 07 (2019) 100 [arXiv:1906.06535] [INSPIRE].
- [31] F. Caola, K. Melnikov and R. Röntsch, Analytic results for decays of color singlets to gg and qq final states at NNLO QCD with the nested soft-collinear subtraction scheme, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 1013 [arXiv:1907.05398] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C.G. Papadopoulos, D. Tommasini and C. Wever, The Pentabox Master Integrals with the Simplified Differential Equations approach, JHEP 04 (2016) 078 [arXiv:1511.09404]
 [INSPIRE].

- [33] M. Zeng, Differential equations on unitarity cut surfaces, JHEP 06 (2017) 121 [arXiv:1702.02355] [INSPIRE].
- [34] D. Chicherin, J. Henn and V. Mitev, *Bootstrapping pentagon functions*, *JHEP* **05** (2018) 164 [arXiv:1712.09610] [INSPIRE].
- [35] R.H. Boels, Q. Jin and H. Lüo, *Efficient integrand reduction for particles with spin*, arXiv:1802.06761 [INSPIRE].
- [36] D. Chicherin, J.M. Henn and E. Sokatchev, Scattering Amplitudes from Superconformal Ward Identities, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 021602 [arXiv:1804.03571] [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Böhm, A. Georgoudis, K.J. Larsen, H. Schönemann and Y. Zhang, Complete integration-by-parts reductions of the non-planar hexagon-box via module intersections, JHEP 09 (2018) 024 [arXiv:1805.01873] [INSPIRE].
- [38] H.A. Chawdhry, M.A. Lim and A. Mitov, Two-loop five-point massless QCD amplitudes within the integration-by-parts approach, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 076011 [arXiv:1805.09182] [INSPIRE].
- [39] T. Gehrmann, J.M. Henn and N.A. Lo Presti, Pentagon functions for massless planar scattering amplitudes, JHEP 10 (2018) 103 [arXiv:1807.09812] [INSPIRE].
- [40] S. Abreu, B. Page and M. Zeng, Differential equations from unitarity cuts: nonplanar hexa-box integrals, JHEP 01 (2019) 006 [arXiv:1807.11522] [INSPIRE].
- [41] D. Chicherin, T. Gehrmann, J.M. Henn, N.A. Lo Presti, V. Mitev and P. Wasser, Analytic result for the nonplanar hexa-box integrals, JHEP 03 (2019) 042 [arXiv:1809.06240] [INSPIRE].
- [42] A. Kardos, A new reduction strategy for special negative sectors of planar two-loop integrals without Laporta algorithm, arXiv:1812.05622 [INSPIRE].
- [43] D. Chicherin, T. Gehrmann, J.M. Henn, P. Wasser, Y. Zhang and S. Zoia, All Master Integrals for Three-Jet Production at Next-to-Next-to-Leading Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 041603 [arXiv:1812.11160] [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Bendle et al., Integration-by-parts reductions of Feynman integrals using Singular and GPI-Space, arXiv:1908.04301 [INSPIRE].
- [45] C.G. Papadopoulos and C. Wever, Internal Reduction method for computing Feynman Integrals, arXiv:1910.06275 [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. Badger, H. Frellesvig and Y. Zhang, A Two-Loop Five-Gluon Helicity Amplitude in QCD, JHEP 12 (2013) 045 [arXiv:1310.1051] [INSPIRE].
- [47] T. Gehrmann, J.M. Henn and N.A. Lo Presti, Analytic form of the two-loop planar five-gluon all-plus-helicity amplitude in QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 062001 [Erratum ibid. 116 (2016) 189903] [arXiv:1511.05409] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Badger, C. Brønnum-Hansen, H.B. Hartanto and T. Peraro, First look at two-loop five-gluon scattering in QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 092001 [arXiv:1712.02229] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S. Abreu, F. Febres Cordero, H. Ita, B. Page and M. Zeng, Planar Two-Loop Five-Gluon Amplitudes from Numerical Unitarity, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 116014 [arXiv:1712.03946] [INSPIRE].

- [50] S. Badger et al., Applications of integrand reduction to two-loop five-point scattering amplitudes in QCD, PoS(LL2018)006 (2018) [arXiv:1807.09709] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. Abreu, F. Febres Cordero, H. Ita, B. Page and V. Sotnikov, Planar Two-Loop Five-Parton Amplitudes from Numerical Unitarity, JHEP 11 (2018) 116 [arXiv:1809.09067] [INSPIRE].
- [52] S. Badger, C. Brønnum-Hansen, H.B. Hartanto and T. Peraro, Analytic helicity amplitudes for two-loop five-gluon scattering: the single-minus case, JHEP 01 (2019) 186 [arXiv:1811.11699] [INSPIRE].
- [53] S. Abreu, J. Dormans, F. Febres Cordero, H. Ita and B. Page, Analytic Form of Planar Two-Loop Five-Gluon Scattering Amplitudes in QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 082002 [arXiv:1812.04586] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. Abreu, J. Dormans, F. Febres Cordero, H. Ita, B. Page and V. Sotnikov, Analytic Form of the Planar Two-Loop Five-Parton Scattering Amplitudes in QCD, JHEP 05 (2019) 084 [arXiv:1904.00945] [INSPIRE].
- [55] S. Badger et al., Analytic form of the full two-loop five-gluon all-plus helicity amplitude, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 071601 [arXiv:1905.03733] [INSPIRE].
- [56] H.B. Hartanto, S. Badger, C. Brønnum-Hansen and T. Peraro, A numerical evaluation of planar two-loop helicity amplitudes for a W-boson plus four partons, JHEP 09 (2019) 119 [arXiv:1906.11862] [INSPIRE].
- [57] S. Badger, G. Mogull, A. Ochirov and D. O'Connell, A Complete Two-Loop, Five-Gluon Helicity Amplitude in Yang-Mills Theory, JHEP 10 (2015) 064 [arXiv:1507.08797]
 [INSPIRE].
- [58] D.C. Dunbar and W.B. Perkins, Two-loop five-point all plus helicity Yang-Mills amplitude, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 085029 [arXiv:1603.07514] [INSPIRE].
- [59] S. Badger, G. Mogull and T. Peraro, Local integrands for two-loop all-plus Yang-Mills amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2016) 063 [arXiv:1606.02244] [INSPIRE].
- [60] Z. Bern, M. Czakon, D.A. Kosower, R. Roiban and V.A. Smirnov, Two-loop iteration of five-point N = 4 super-Yang-Mills amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 181601 [hep-th/0604074] [INSPIRE].
- [61] P. Mastrolia, E. Mirabella, G. Ossola and T. Peraro, Integrand-Reduction for Two-Loop Scattering Amplitudes through Multivariate Polynomial Division, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 085026 [arXiv:1209.4319] [INSPIRE].
- [62] S. Abreu, L.J. Dixon, E. Herrmann, B. Page and M. Zeng, The two-loop five-point amplitude in N = 4 super-Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 121603 [arXiv:1812.08941] [INSPIRE].
- [63] D. Chicherin, T. Gehrmann, J.M. Henn, P. Wasser, Y. Zhang and S. Zoia, Analytic result for a two-loop five-particle amplitude, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122** (2019) 121602 [arXiv:1812.11057] [INSPIRE].
- [64] D.C. Dunbar, G.R. Jehu and W.B. Perkins, Two-Loop Gravity amplitudes from four dimensional Unitarity, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 046012 [arXiv:1701.02934] [INSPIRE].
- [65] D. Chicherin, T. Gehrmann, J.M. Henn, P. Wasser, Y. Zhang and S. Zoia, *The two-loop five-particle amplitude in N = 8 supergravity*, *JHEP* 03 (2019) 115 [arXiv:1901.05932] [INSPIRE].

- [66] S. Abreu, L.J. Dixon, E. Herrmann, B. Page and M. Zeng, The two-loop five-point amplitude in $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity, JHEP 03 (2019) 123 [arXiv:1901.08563] [INSPIRE].
- [67] ATLAS collaboration, Measurement of the production cross section of three isolated photons in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$ using the ATLAS detector, Phys. Lett. **B** 781 (2018) 55 [arXiv:1712.07291] [INSPIRE].
- [68] ATLAS collaboration, Search for new phenomena in events with at least three photons collected in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 210 [arXiv:1509.05051] [INSPIRE].
- [69] M. Czakon, P. Fiedler and A. Mitov, Resolving the Tevatron Top Quark Forward-Backward Asymmetry Puzzle: Fully Differential Next-to-Next-to-Leading-Order Calculation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 052001 [arXiv:1411.3007] [INSPIRE].
- [70] M. Czakon, D. Heymes and A. Mitov, High-precision differential predictions for top-quark pairs at the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 082003 [arXiv:1511.00549] [INSPIRE].
- [71] M. Czakon, P. Fiedler, D. Heymes and A. Mitov, NNLO QCD predictions for fully-differential top-quark pair production at the Tevatron, JHEP 05 (2016) 034
 [arXiv:1601.05375] [INSPIRE].
- [72] M. Czakon, D. Heymes and A. Mitov, Dynamical scales for multi-TeV top-pair production at the LHC, JHEP 04 (2017) 071 [arXiv:1606.03350] [INSPIRE].
- [73] A. Behring, M. Czakon, A. Mitov, A.S. Papanastasiou and R. Poncelet, *Higher order corrections to spin correlations in top quark pair production at the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett.* 123 (2019) 082001 [arXiv:1901.05407] [INSPIRE].
- [74] M. Czakon, A. van Hameren, A. Mitov and R. Poncelet, Single-jet inclusive rates with exact color at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^4)$, JHEP 10 (2019) 262 [arXiv:1907.12911] [INSPIRE].
- [75] J.M. Campbell, R.K. Ellis, Y. Li and C. Williams, Predictions for diphoton production at the LHC through NNLO in QCD, JHEP 07 (2016) 148 [arXiv:1603.02663] [INSPIRE].
- [76] https://bitbucket.org/hameren/avhlib.
- [77] M. Bury and A. van Hameren, Numerical evaluation of multi-gluon amplitudes for High Energy Factorization, Comput. Phys. Commun. 196 (2015) 592 [arXiv:1503.08612]
 [INSPIRE].
- [78] F.V. Tkachov, A Theorem on Analytical Calculability of Four Loop Renormalization Group Functions, Phys. Lett. 100B (1981) 65 [INSPIRE].
- [79] K.G. Chetyrkin and F.V. Tkachov, Integration by Parts: The Algorithm to Calculate β -functions in 4 Loops, Nucl. Phys. B 192 (1981) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [80] F. Cascioli, P. Maierhofer and S. Pozzorini, Scattering Amplitudes with Open Loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 111601 [arXiv:1111.5206] [INSPIRE].
- [81] F. Buccioni et al., OpenLoops 2, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 866 [arXiv:1907.13071]
 [INSPIRE].
- [82] S. Actis, A. Denner, L. Hofer, J.-N. Lang, A. Scharf and S. Uccirati, RECOLA: REcursive Computation of One-Loop Amplitudes, Comput. Phys. Commun. 214 (2017) 140 [arXiv:1605.01090] [INSPIRE].
- [83] T. Peraro, FiniteFlow: multivariate functional reconstruction using finite fields and dataflow graphs, JHEP 07 (2019) 031 [arXiv:1905.08019] [INSPIRE].

- [84] S. Borowka et al., pySecDec: a toolbox for the numerical evaluation of multi-scale integrals, Comput. Phys. Commun. 222 (2018) 313 [arXiv:1703.09692] [INSPIRE].
- [85] https://www.ginac.de/CLN/.
- [86] G. Bevilacqua, M. Czakon, A. van Hameren, C.G. Papadopoulos and M. Worek, *Complete* off-shell effects in top quark pair hadroproduction with leptonic decay at next-to-leading order, *JHEP* **02** (2011) 083 [arXiv:1012.4230] [INSPIRE].
- [87] G. Bevilacqua, H.B. Hartanto, M. Kraus and M. Worek, Top Quark Pair Production in Association with a Jet with Next-to-Leading-Order QCD Off-Shell Effects at the Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 052003 [arXiv:1509.09242] [INSPIRE].
- [88] G. Bevilacqua, H.B. Hartanto, M. Kraus and M. Worek, Off-shell Top Quarks with One Jet at the LHC: A comprehensive analysis at NLO QCD, JHEP 11 (2016) 098 [arXiv:1609.01659] [INSPIRE].
- [89] S.P. Jones, M. Kerner and G. Luisoni, Next-to-Leading-Order QCD Corrections to Higgs Boson Plus Jet Production with Full Top-Quark Mass Dependence, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 162001 [arXiv:1802.00349] [INSPIRE].
- [90] G. Bevilacqua, H.B. Hartanto, M. Kraus, T. Weber and M. Worek, Hard Photons in Hadroproduction of Top Quarks with Realistic Final States, JHEP 10 (2018) 158 [arXiv:1803.09916] [INSPIRE].
- [91] Z. Kassabov, Zaharid/GPTree: Interpolation library using Gaussian Processes and KDTrees, https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3571309.
- [92] HEPData repository, https://www.hepdata.net/record/ins1644367.
- [93] S. Frixione, Isolated photons in perturbative QCD, Phys. Lett. B 429 (1998) 369 [hep-ph/9801442] [INSPIRE].
- [94] NNPDF collaboration, Parton distributions from high-precision collider data, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 663 [arXiv:1706.00428] [INSPIRE].
- [95] S. Catani, L. Cieri, D. de Florian, G. Ferrera and M. Grazzini, *Diphoton production at the LHC: a QCD study up to NNLO*, *JHEP* **04** (2018) 142 [arXiv:1802.02095] [INSPIRE].
- [96] S. Catani, L. Cieri, D. de Florian, G. Ferrera and M. Grazzini, Diphoton production at hadron colliders: a fully-differential QCD calculation at NNLO, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 072001 [Erratum ibid. 117 (2016) 089901] [arXiv:1110.2375] [INSPIRE].